1. Identity of Moving Party 

Tanner Coryell asks this court to accept review of the Court of 

Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this 

petition. 

2. Court of Appeals Decision 

The Court of Appeals decision affirming Mr. Coryell's 

criminal convictions was filed on March 3, 2020. A copy of the 

decision is in the Appendix. 

3. Issues Presented for Review 

Should this Court review an issue of substantial public interest 

and conclude the requirement that any lesser included offense has been 

committed "to the exclusion of the charged offense" is a deviation 

from prior statutory and common law, is incorrect and harmful, and 

should be overruled? 

Do the facts related to Mr. Coryell's alleged second degree 

assault support an inference that the lesser crime of fourth degree was 

committed such that his case should be remanded for a new trial? 

4. Statement of the Case 

Mr. Coryell was convicted of second degree assault after the trial 

court denied his request for a fourth degree assault lesser included offense 

jury instruction. This was error. 
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Mr. Coryell and his girlfriend, Autumn Hart'Lnenicka, were 

involved in a domestic dispute that turned violent on November 7, 2017. 

According to Ms. Hart'Lnenicka's trial testimony, the fight started in the 

living room where Mr. Coryell grabbed her and pulled her out of the 

house, locking the door behind her. RP, 43-45. A few minutes later, she 

was able to reenter the house and ran into the laundry room. RP, 46. 

Inside the laundry room, Mr. Coryell grabbed her by the neck and lifted 

her into the air. RP, 47. According to Ms. Hart'Lnenicka, she could not 

breathe and was afraid he was going to kill her. RP, 48. The State's theory 

was that the confrontation in the living room constituted a fourth degree 

assault and the confrontation in the laundry room constituted a second 

degree assault by means of strangulation. 

Mr. Coryell testified in his own defense at trial. According to Mr. 

Coryell, the two of them got into a physical confrontation in the living 

room where Ms. Hart'Lnenicka smacked him, causing his glasses to fly 

off his face. RP, 159. When Mr. Coryell tried retrieving his glasses, Ms. 

Hart'Lnenicka grabbed and twisted them, causing the lenses to pop out. 

RP, 160-6L Ms. Hart'Lnenicka then started hitting and scratching his 

face. RP, 161. Mr. Coryell testified he did not put his hands around her 

neck and the only time he put his hands on her was to push her off while 

she was hitting him. RP, 169. At one point, he used his forearm to pin her 
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against the wall to stop her. RP, 169-70. As Mr. Coryell was trying to 

repair his glasses, Ms. Hart'Lnenicka grabbed her phone and car keys and 

ran outside. RP, 165. That was the last time he saw her that day. RP, 165. 

Officer Shon Malone, who has investigated approximately 1600 

domestic violence calls, including twenty strangulation cases, responded. 

RP, 106. Part of his training and experience is to look for symptoms of 

strangulation. RP, 132-33. A common symptom of strangulation is broken 

blood vessels in eyes and along the neck called petechial hemorrhaging. 

RP, 107, 13 3. Petechial hemorrhaging is an indication that the victim has 

experienced an "actual lack of oxygen." RP, 133. Ms. Hart'Lnenicka had 

no petechial hemorrhaging. RP, 134. 

As the trial judge pointed out, there were significant differences in 

the chronology described by Mr. Coryell and Ms. Hart'Lnenicka. On the 

one hand, Ms. Hart'Lnenicka testified there were two physical 

altercations, one in the living room and one in the laundry room, separated 

by a brief period of time when she was outside. On the other hand, Mr. 

Coryell testified the only one physical altercation occurred in the living 

room where he was the victim. 

Mr. Coryell requested a fourth degree assault lesser included 

offense instruction for the second degree assault. Mr. Coryell pointed to 

numerous inconsistencies in Ms. Hart'Lnenicka's testimony, as well as the 
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fact that she had no petechial hemorrhaging, which one would expect in a 

strangulation situation, in support of his proffered lesser included offense 

instruction. The trial court denied the proposed instruction, however, 

noting that Mr. Coryell had denied any assaultive behavior occurred in the 

laundry room when testifying. The trial court cited State v. Porter, 150 

Wn.2d 732, · 736, 82 P.3d 234 (2004), which held that only the lesser 

included offense must have been committed "to the exclusion of the 

charged offense." 

5. Argument Why Review Should be Granted 

After the briefing was complete in the Court of Appeals, Mr. 

Coryell moved to transfer his appeal to the Supreme Court. In his Motion 

to Transfer, Mr. Coryell argued that for the purpose of determining when a 

lesser included offense instruction is appropriate, this Court has created 

two inconsistent standards for applying the factual prong. The first 

standard states that a defendant is entitled to a lesser included offense 

instruction if the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser 

crime was committed. State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 447-48, 584 P.2d 

382 (1978) (hereinafter, "inference standard"). 1 The second standard 

requires the defendant to show the lesser included offense to have been 

1 
Workman also requires that each of the elements of the lesser offense be a 

necessary element of the offense charged, the legal prong, an issue that is not contested in 
this case. 
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committed "to the exclusion of the charged offense." State v. Porter, 150 

Wn.2d 732, 736, 82 P.3d 234 (2004) (hereinafter, "exclusion standard"). 

In his Motion to Transfer, Mr. Coryell argued there is a "clear and 

irreconcilable tension between the Workman standard and the exclusion 

standard of Porter" and that the exclusion standard is incorrect and 

harmful. He acknowledged, however, that the Court of Appeals is unable 

to resolve this tension because both lines of cases are Supreme Court 

cases. Because the Court of Appeals is without authority to overrule 

Supreme Court precedent, Mr. Coryell argued the most efficient way of 

handling this appeal was to transfer the case to the Supreme Court for 

resolution. 

A Commissioner of this Court denied the Motion to Transfer. In 

doing so, the Commissioner stated, "Mr. Coryell is correct that the Court 

of Appeals may not overrule this court's precedent, but it does not follow 

that the Court of Appeals lacks the ability to conduct a meaningful 

Workman analysis that may be helpful to this court in considering a 

potential petition for review that may include argument on whether to 

adhere to the Workman analysis. . . The better use of judicial resources is 

to let the appeal proceed in the ordinary course in the Court of Appeals." 

Commissioner's Order, May 30, 2019. 
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As predicted, the Court of Appeals was unable to provide any 

meaningful analysis or relief. The Court concluded, "Coryell argues that 

the exclusion language is incorrect and harmful, and urges this court to 

overrule it. We are bound by the precedent of our Supreme Court ... 

Coryell's request for this court to overrule the Supreme Court's consistent 

recitation of the exclusion rule is misguided." Opinion at 7-8. 

As he argued in the Motion to Transfer, Mr. Coryell continues to 

argue that the exclusion standard is incorrect and harmful and should be 

overruled. Whether to continue to apply the exclusion standard is an issue 

of substantial public interest relating to a significant question of law under 

the Constitution that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b). 

According to this Court in Porter, the first case to articulate the 

exclusion standard was State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 6 

P.3d 1150 (2000). But a close reading of Fernandez-Medina reveals 

otherwise. In Fernandez-Medina, the defendant was charged with first 

degree assault. The evidence, including expert witness testimony, created 

an interference that, whoever committed the assault, was guilty of only 

second degree assault. But the defendant denied being present at the time 

of the assault, instead raising an alibi defense. 
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Despite the Supreme Court's comment that applying the factual 

prong to the case was "reasonably straightforward" (Id at 455), the Court 

then applied a factual analysis that was not straightforward at all: 

If the trial court were to examine only the testimony of the 
defendant, it would have been justified in refusing to give the 
requested inferior degree instruction. As we have observed 
above, Fernandez-Medina claimed that he was not present at 
the incident leading to the charge at issue. A trial court is not to 
take such a limited view of the evidence, however, but must 
consider all of the evidence that is presented at trial when it is 
deciding whether or not an instruction should be given. 

Id. at 456. Had the Court strictly applied the exclusion standard, the 

defendant's testimony that he was not present at the time of the assault 

should have precluded the lesser included offense instruction, but this 

Court nevertheless reversed because the defendant was entitled to the 

benefit of all the facts presented at trial and those facts gave rise to an 

inference of the lesser included offense. 

In State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015), a 

majority of the Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction based on a 

failure to give a lesser included offense instruction without referencing the 

exclusion standard or the Porter case at all. Like in Fernandez-Medina, 

the primary defense was one of identity - that the defendant was not the 

shooter- and not the degree of homicide. But the majority was concerned 

with the fact that murder by extreme indifference and first degree 
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manslaughter are based on close legal standards. Henderson at 743-45. 

Despite the fact that the defendant largely conceded the material facts, the 

majority nevertheless reversed, saying, "[I]t is difficult to say whether a 

jury might find first degree murder by extreme indifference or first degree 

manslaughter if given the choice-it depends on how the jury views the 

evidence." Henderson at 746. In other words, it is enough that the jury 

may have simply ignored the evidence supporting the greater charge in 

favor of the lesser charge. 

In dissent, Justice McCloud faulted the majority for not applying 

the exclusion standard, holding that no rational jury could find based upon 

the largely undisputed evidence that the defendant committed 

manslaughter to the exclusion of first degree murder. Henderson at 748; 

see also Id. at footnote 3 (Justice McCloud, dissenting). Justice McCloud 

openly acknowledged the inherent "tension" in Washington case law. 

[O]ur court has stated that a defendant is not entitled to an 
instruction on a lesser included offense unless the evidence 
raises an inference that the defendant committed the lesser 
offense "to the exclusion of the charged offense." Fernandez
Medina, 141 Wn.2d at 455. I infer some discomfort with that 
standard in the majority's opinion. I share that discomfort; 
indeed, it arguably stands in tension with the statutory directive 
that "[w]hen a crime has been proven against a person, and 
there exists a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more 
degrees he or she is guilty, he or she shall be convicted only of 
the lowest degree." RCW 9A.04.100(2) (emphasis added). But 
the parties in this case have not argued that issue. 
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Henderson, at footnote 4 (Justice McCloud, dissenting). 

The time has come to acknowledge the tension between these two 

lines of cases and overrule the exclusion standard. The standard in 

Washington for overruling established precedent is that there be a "clear 

showing that the rule it announced is incorrect and harmful." State v. W.R., 

181 Wn.2d 757336 P.3d 1134 (2014). This Court should conclude that the 

exclusion standard is both legally incorrect and harmful and should be 

overruled. 

First, as suggested by Justice McCloud, the exclusion standard is 

incorrect. Two separate Washington statutes provide for the use of lesser 

included offenses. RCW 9A.04.100(2) provides, "When a crime has been 

proven against a person, and there exists a reasonable doubt as to which of 

two or more degrees he or she is guilty, he or she shall be convicted only 

of the lowest degree." RCW 10.61.006 provides, "In all other cases the 

defendant may be found guilty of an offense the commission of which is 

necessarily included within that with which he is charged in the indictment 

or information." These two statutes are designed to codify the common 

law rule of lesser included offenses. RCW 10.61.006 dates back to 1854 

when Washington was still a territory. See State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 

947 P.2d 700 (1997). The exclusion standard is inconsistent with these 

two statutes. 
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The exclusion standard is also inconsistent with longstanding case 

law. The Workman case, which concluded lesser included offenses are 

justified when the facts support an inference that the lesser offense was 

committed, has been the standard in Washington since at least 1897. State 

v. Dolan, 17 Wn. 499, 50 P. 472 (1897); State v. Young, 22 Wn. 273, 276-

77, 60 P. 650 (1900) ("If there is even the slightest evidence that the 

defendant may have committed the degree of the offense inferior to and 

included in the one charged, the law of such inferior degree ought to be 

given.") In one early case, this Court made the following pronouncement: 

The statute (Rem. Code, § 2167) provides that, upon an 
indictment or information for an offense consisting of different 
degrees, the jury may find the accused not guilty of the degree 
charged, and guilty of any inferior degree, and therefore the 
correct rule is that the lesser crime must be submitted to the 
jury along with the greater, unless the evidence positively 
excludes any inference that the lesser crime was committed, 
and it is not incumbent upon the defendant, before such an 
instruction will be given, to show facts from which a jury 
might draw the conclusion that the lesser crime and not the 
greater was in fact committed. 

State v. Gottstein, 111 Wn. 600, 602, 191 P. 766 (1920) (emphasis 

added). See State v. Donofrio, 141 Wn. 132,250 P. 951 (1926) ("evidence 

was ample to warrant" lesser included because "the jury might well have 

believed that Miss Engdahl did not see any weapon"). In applying this 

standard, the defendant is entitled to the benefit of all the evidence and 
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inferences therefrom. The Porter case represents a deviation from this 

common law standard and should be overruled. 

Second, the exclusion standard is harmful. The Henderson 

majority quoted Justice Brennan where he said, "Where one of the 

elements of the crime charged remains in doubt, but the defendant is 

plainly guilty of some offense, the jury is likely to resolve its doubts in 

favor of conviction." Henderson at 736, quoting Keeble v. United States, 

412 U.S. 215, 212-13, 93 S.Ct. 1933, 36 L.Ed.2d 944 (1973). It is the 

proper role of the jury to decide not just whether the defendant committed 

"a crime," but whether he committed "the crime." As the Supreme Court 

has said, "We believe that the jury's ability to 'separate the wheat from the 

chaff deserves more deference than was afforded by the courts below, and 

we are loath to allow expansion of the trial judge's authority into the fact

finding province of the jury." Fernandez-Medina at 461. 

It has been noted that juries often apply a rule of lenity in the 

deliberation room. State v. Ng, 110 Wn.2d 32, 48, 750 P.2d 632 (1988) 

(noting that the apparently inconsistent verdicts are permissible as jury 

lenity). As in Henderson, whether a jury convicts of the greater or lesser 

charge "depends on how the jury views the evidence." Henderson at 746. 

The exclusion standard can also be harmful to the prosecution. In 

State v. Wright, 152 Wn.App. 64,214 P.3d 968 (2009), the trial court gave 
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the State's proferred lesser included offense instruction over the 

defendant's objection and the jury convicted of the lesser offense. In a 

split decision, the majority of the court refused to apply the inference 

standard and reversed, concluding the lesser offense · could not have been 

committed to the exclusion of the greater offense. 

Mr. Coryell's case is legally indistinguishable from Fernandez

Medina. The defendant in Fernandez-Medina argued he was not present 

with the victim at the time of the assault, but if the jury found that he was 

present, the inference was that he was guilty only of the lesser degree 

assault. Mr. Coryell argued he was not alone with Ms. Hart'Lnenicka in 

the laundry room when she claimed to have been assaulted, but if the jury 

found they were together in the landry room, the inference was that he was 

guilty only of the lesser degree assault. Like the defendant in Fernandez

Medina, Mr. Coryell was entitled to the benefit of all the evidence 

presented at trial as well as the inferences therefrom. 

At least one Supreme Court justice has already invited argument 

on whether to resolve this tension between the inference standard and the 

exclusion standard. State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 344 P.3d 1207 

(2015) (Justice McCloud, dissenting) (footnote 3). Mr. Coryell's case 

presents an excellent vehicle to resolve this issue of substantial public 

interest. 
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6. Conclusion 

This Court should grant review and reverse.