FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/17/2020 4:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98256-2 COA No. 52369-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

TANNER CORYELL,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable James J. Dixon Cause No. 17-1-01990-34

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joseph J.A. Jackson Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W. Olympia, Washington 98502 (360) 786-5540

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

C. ARGUMENT.

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only for the reasons set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Coryell focuses his argument on RAP 13.4(b)(4), which require that Coryell demonstrate an "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The rules which are set down by this Court for trial courts to follow are of substantial public interest, but there is no reason that this court should re-address the longstanding Workman test.

1. There is only one standard currently recognized by the Courts in the State of Washington for lesser included offenses and that standard is not incorrect and harmful.

Coryell argues that the Courts in our State have recognized

two distinct tests in regard to the factual prong of State v. Workman. While there has been some distinction in the application of the rule, all Washington Court's adhere to the general rule that was announced in Workman. Though the rule is commonly referred to as the Workman test, the decision in Workman borrowed the language of the factual prong from State v. Snider, 70 Wn.2d 326, 326-327, 422 P.2d 816 (1967)("To justify such an instruction there must be some basis in the evidence produced at trial positively inferring that the lesser crime was committed and upon which the jury could make a finding as to the lesser included offense); Workman, 90 Wn.2d at 448. In Snider, the defendant denied taking any property whatsoever, therefore the Court found that under the facts, he was guilty of robbery or not guilty, and therefore there was no evidence to support an instruction on larceny from the person. 70 Wn.2d at 327.

Since this Court's decision in <u>Workman</u>, the Court has addressed the factual prong of the <u>Workman</u> test many times. In <u>State v. Fowler</u>, 114 Wn.2d 59, 67, 785 P.2d 808 (1990); *overruled on other grounds*, <u>State v. Blair</u>, 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991), the test was described as "when the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser included crime was

committed." The defendant argued that testimony that served to discredit a witness' testimony supported a lesser included instruction, but the Court found, "It is not enough that the jury might simply disbelieve the State's evidence. Instead, some evidence must be presented which affirmatively establishes the defendant's theory on the lesser included offense before an instruction will be given. Fowler, 114 Wn.2d at 67.

In <u>State v. Smith</u>, 115 Wn.2d 434, 442, 798 P.2d 1146 (1990), the test was again described as "when the evidence in the case supports an inference that the lesser included crime was committed." In that case, the defendant argued that he was entitled to lesser included instructions of theft in the second degree or third degree when he was charged with theft in the first degree. <u>Id</u>. in rejecting the contention, the Court stated that the evidence presented showed that the stolen merchandise was worth \$3000 without a discount, and \$2400 with a discount, therefore, there the defendant "had failed to produce evidence which would support an inference that either theft in the second or third degree was committed." Id.

In <u>State v. Brown</u>, 127 Wn.2d 749, 754, 903 P.2d 459 (1995), this Court described the factual prong of the test, stating,

"the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed." Brown was charged with first degree rape and the State sought a lesser included instruction for rape in the second degree. Id. Brown argued that neither party introduced affirmative evidence that he had committed only second-degree rape. Id. The Court of Appeals had concluded that there was affirmative evidence that Brown committed only second-degree rape because there was evidence which tended to impeach the victim's claim that a gun was used. Id. at 55. This Court found that the State had failed to demonstrate the factual prong of the test, noting that "affirmative evidence" requires something more than the possibility that the jury could disbelieve some of the State's evidence." Id.

In <u>State v. Speece</u>, 115 Wn.2d 360, 363, 798 P.2d 294 (1990), this Court rejected a claim that a lesser included instruction of burglary in the second degree should have been given in a burglary in the first degree case, because the defense was solely that he did not commit the burglary, and there was no affirmative evidence presented that the defendant was not armed during the burglary.

In <u>State v. Fernandez-Medina</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 454, the factual prong of the test was described as, "the evidence in the case must support an inference that the lesser crime was committed." This Court stated that:

An instruction on an inferior degree offense is properly administered when: (1) the statutes for both the charged offense and the proposed inferior degree offense "proscribe but one offense"; (2) the information charges an offense that is divided into degrees, and the proposed offense is an inferior degree of the charged offense; and (3) there is evidence that the defendant committed only the inferior offense.

<u>Id.</u>; *citing*, <u>State v. Peterson</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 891. In addressing the factual prong of the test, the Court stated:

Necessarily, then, the factual test includes a requirement that there be a factual showing more particularized than that required for other jury instructions. Specifically, we have held that the evidence must raise an inference that only the lesser included/inferior degree offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense.

<u>Fernandez-Medina</u>, 141 Wn.2d at 455, *citing* <u>Peterson</u>, 133 Wn.2d at 891 and <u>State v. Bowerman</u>, 115 Wn.2d 794, 805, 802 P.2d 116 (1990); *overruled on legal prong test*, <u>State v. Condon</u>, 182 Wn.2d 307, 343 P.3d 357 (2015).

The Court continued to explain the factual prong of the test in State v. Porter, 150 Wn.2d 732, 82 P.3d 234 (2004). The Court

again stated, "we have held that the evidence must raise an inference that only the lesser included offense was committed to the exclusion of the charged offense." <u>Id</u>. at 737. "In other words," the Court continued, "the evidence must affirmatively establish the defendant's theory of the case - - it is not enough that the jury might disbelieve the evidence pointing to guilt." Id.

In <u>State v. Condon</u>, 182 Wn.2d at 316, this Court stated, "under the second (factual) prong, the court asks whether the evidence in the case supports an inference that only the lesser offense was committed, to the exclusion of the greater, charged offense." The test was referred to in a similar fashion in <u>State v. Schierman</u>, 192 Wn.2d 577, 657, 415 P.3d 106 (2018).

There is only one test in this State for consideration of whether a lesser included instruction is warranted. Coryell's argument that there is a recognized Workman test and a recognized exclusion test is incorrect. The exclusion rule is part of the Workman test as it has evolved in over thirty years of jurisprudence. Coryell points to State v. Henderson, 182 Wn.2d 734, 344 P.3d 1207 (2015) for the proposition that two tests exist; however, a close reading of that opinion reveals otherwise.

In <u>Henderson</u>, the Court considered whether a lesser included instruction should have been given on first degree manslaughter in a prosecution for first degree murder by extreme indifference. <u>Id</u>. at 743. Without stating so, the Court applied the exclusion rule of the <u>Workman</u> test, stating:

...the proper question under our current case law is whether a rational jury could have that Henderson's actions constituted a disregard of a substantial risk that a homicide may occur but not an extreme indifference that created a grave risk of death.

Henderson, at 744. In other words, the majority opinion was asking whether affirmative evidence existed which would support only a conclusion that the manslaughter offense occurred.

In dissent, Justice Gordon McCloud recognized that the majority acknowledged the exclusion rule. <u>Id.</u> at 748. In a footnote, Justice Gordon McCloud opined that the exclusion rule arguably stands in tension with RCW 9A.04.100(2) but acknowledged that the issue had not been raised. <u>Id.</u> n. 6. RCW 9A.04.100(2) reads "when a crime has been proven against a person, and there exist a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more degrees he or she is guilty, he or she shall be convicted only of the lowest degree." Similar language is included in RCW 10.58.020. While RCW 10.61.003 and RCW 10.61.006 allow the jury to convict of lesser

included offenses and inferior degrees, those statutes must be read in conjunction with RCW 9A.04.100(2). These rules are not in tension with the current factual prong test. In fact, by requiring an inference that only the lesser included offense was committed, the test gives meaning to the phrase, "and there exist a reasonable doubt as to which of two or more degrees he or she is guilty." If there can be no inference that only the lesser included offense was committed to the exclusion of the greater, there is no reasonable doubt as to which degree was committed.

Stare decisis is a bedrock principle which "promotes the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principals, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual and perceived integrity of the judicial process." State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863, 248 P.3d 494 (2011) (quoting Keene v. Edie, 131 Wn.2d 822, 831, 935 P.2d 588 (1997), quoting Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed 2d 720, reh'g denied, 501 U.S. 1277, 112 S. Ct. 28, 115 L. Ed. 2d 1110 (1991)). Courts will depart from precedent when there is a reason to do so, but they require a plain showing that the rule in place is both incorrect and harmful. Barber, 170 Wn.2d at 863-64. No such showing has been made in this case. The rule requires

that there be some inference of doubt as to which degree of offense was committed in order for either party to be entitled to a lesser degree instruction. The same basic rule has been utilized for more than forty years. The rule is neither incorrect nor harmful. There is no reason for which this Court should accept review.

2. The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly applied the factual prong of the *Workman* test in this case.

Coryell requested a lesser included instruction with regard to count two, assault in the second degree. CP 78, 79. RP 205-206. A lesser included instruction must be given if the evidence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the defendant, raises an inference that the defendant committed the lesser crime instead of the greater crime. In re Pers. Restraint of Sandoval, 189 Wn.2d 811, 822, 408 P.3d 675 (2018). Here, if you looked at the evidence in a light most favorable to Coryell, nothing happened in the laundry room. There can be no inference from the record that Coryell committed the lesser crime instead of the greater crime. To use statutory language, no reasonable doubt as to which of the offenses occurred exists. See RCW 10.58,020.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Coryell was not entitled to an inferior degree instruction. Unpublished Opinion, No

52369-8-II, at 9. Other than raising the issue for review, Coryell

makes no argument that the trial court's or Court of Appeals'

application of the factual prong of the test from Workman and its

progeny was incorrect. This Court should deny review of the issue.

D. CONCLUSION.

While the test for whether a party is entitled to a lesser

included or inferior degree instruction is of substantial public

importance, this Court has ruled on the issue and the basic rule has

been relied on by the Courts of this State for over 40 years. Coryell

has not demonstrated that the rule is incorrect or harmful. The

State respectfully request that this court deny review of the decision

of the Court of Appeals.